STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

v

XUN WANG,

Defendant-Appellant.

MSC No. _____

COA No. 336673

LC No. 2015-754-FH

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S APPLICATION
FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL

ROBYN B. FRANKEL (P43629)
Attorney for Defendant-Appellant
26711 Woodward Ave., Suite 200
Huntington Woods, Michigan 48070
(248) 541-5200

STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. SHOULD DEFENDANT’S CONVICTION FOR THE UNLAWFUL PRACTICE OF MEDICINE BE VACATED WHERE THE PROSECUTION PRESENTED INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A FINDING OF DEFENDANT’S GUILT BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT, WHERE THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO MAKE FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW CONSISTENT WITH A VERDICT OF GUILT AND WHERE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO MAKE A MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT?**

Defendant answers “Yes.”

Prosecution answers “No.”

Court of Appeals answered “No.”

- II. SHOULD DEFENDANT’S CONVICTIONS FOR MEDICAID FRAUD BE VACATED WHERE THE PROSECUTION PRESENTED INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A FINDING OF DEFENDANT’S GUILT BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT, AND WHERE THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO MAKE FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW CONSISTENT WITH A VERDICT OF GUILT.?**

Defendant answers “Yes.”

Prosecution answers “No.”

Court of Appeals answered “No.”

STATEMENT OF APPELLATE JURISDICTION

Defendant-Appellant was convicted of Counts I and II: Medicaid Fraud - False Claim and Count III: Unlawful Practice of Medicine, after a bench trial in the Ingham County Circuit Court, on November 4, 2016. She was sentenced on January 11, 2107, to a period of probation. Defendant filed a timely Claim of Appeal. The Court of Appeals affirmed Ms. Wang's conviction by opinion dated May 10, 2018 (Exhibit A). The Court vacated the portion of Ms Wang's sentence imposing a \$105,000.00 fine and remanded for resentencing (Exhibit A at 9). Ms. Wang now files the instant application for leave to appeal with this Court. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to MCR 7.303(B)(1) and MCR 7.305(B)(5).

STATEMENT OF JUDGEMENT APPEALED FROM AND RELIEF SOUGHT

Jessie Wang files the within Application for Leave to Appeal the Court of Appeals' Opinion dated May 10, 2018, affirming her conviction (Exhibit A). This Court ought to grant leave to appeal because the lower court rulings are clearly erroneous and if permitted to stand, will cause a material injustice. MCR 7.305(B)(5).

In affirming Ms. Wang's conviction for the unauthorized practice of medicine, the Court of Appeals has misinterpreted and misapplied MCL 333.16215. The Court of Appeals upheld Ms. Wang's conviction finding that the statute, "does not allow for the delegation of acts, tasks and functions that one must be a licensed doctor to perform, regardless of supervision" (Exhibit A at 5). This holding is erroneous. On the contrary, the statute specifies that a physician *may* delegate acts to an "unlicensed individual who is otherwise qualified by education, training, or experience the performance of selected acts, tasks, or functions where the acts, tasks, or functions fall within the scope of practice of the licensee's profession and will be performed under the licensee's supervision." The Court of Appeals has essentially ruled that residents and interns may not perform medical tasks. This view of the statute is overly narrow and arguably impacts the medical education of every doctor-in-training, nurse-in-training, or other medical professional-in-training.

Further, in affirming Jessie Wang's convictions for Medicaid Fraud, the Court of Appeals ignored the general principle of individual culpability. The Court upheld her conviction on a finding that although Ms. Wang did not personally submit the charges to Medicaid, "defendant was familiar with the Medicaid system, and was aware that the clinic saw Medicaid patients." (Exhibit A at 8). As such, the Court inferred Ms. Wang's guilt as to the two patients from whose treatment these charges arose, without any evidence that she was aware of their claimed Medicaid status. Rather, the

Court approved the convictions simply Jessie Wang was employed in an office where some of the patients were Medicaid recipients and she should have known that taking notes on patient care - regardless of whether she was aware that the patients were Medicaid recipients - would be used to submit false Medicaid claims. A finding of guilt under this theory is erroneous and ignores the requirements of personal knowledge and individual culpability.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Xun “Jessie” Wang, was charged in a three count Information with Counts I and II charged: Medicaid Fraud - False Claim, MCL 400.607(1). Count III charged: Unlawful Practice of Medicine, MCL 333.16294. The allegations were based on Ms. Wang’s conduct while employed at Livernois Family Medical Services and the clinic’s billing of approximately \$260.00 to Medicaid.

Ms. Wang filed a motion to quash the information. The motion was heard and denied on December 9, 2015 (MT 12-9-15)¹. As to Count I, the Court found that Ms. Wang’s acts, which included evaluating patients and providing prescriptions at a time when no licensed physician was on the premises, was sufficient to establish she was practicing medicine without a license (MT 12-9-15 at 14). The trial court also denied the motion as to Counts II and III, but indicated concern because the doctor had “caused his staff to behave in a manner that was illegal, and maybe they did not realize what was going on.” (MT 12-9-15 at 16-17).

Ms. Wang waived her right to a jury trial (TI 6). The parties stipulated that Ms. Wang did not possess a Michigan health profession license in 2014 or 2015 (TI 8). The parties agreed that Dr. Hussain was not present in the Livernois Family Medical Clinic on May 6, 2014, August 12, 2014, August 14, 2014 or December 29, 2014 (TI 9).

Attorney General Special Agent Drew Macon testified he was originally investigating Dr. Murtaza Hussain, owner of Livernois Family Medical Services, in Detroit, regarding the over prescribing of medications (TI 34, 35). Dr. Hussain was enrolled as a Medicaid provider. Agent Macon scheduled an appointment for August 12, 2014, in an undercover capacity (TI 36).

¹Motion transcripts will be references by date as (MT). The Trial will be referenced: 10-31-16 (TI), 11-1-16 as (TII-A) and (TII-B), 11-3-16 as (TIII) and 11-4-16 as (TIV). The sentencing will be referenced as (ST).

Agent Macon used the alias of Christopher Anderson. On arrival at the clinic, he completed paperwork and provided his Medicaid card (TI 37). Ms. Wang came out and accompanied Agent Macon to obtain his weight and blood pressure (TI 37). She placed him in an exam room, obtained his medical history and left the room for a few minutes (TI 38). Agent Macon did not know if Ms. Wang contacted Dr. Hussain when she left the room. Upon returning, Ms. Wang advised that Agent Macon needed to forward his New York medical records to the office and she provided a release form and instructions to do so (TI 83). She also provided several prescriptions at his request.

Ms. Wang never identified herself as a doctor (TI 40, 65). Agent Macon thought that she was a physician assistant (TI 85). He did not believe she was a medical doctor (TI 85). Ms. Wang did not conduct any physical examination and spent only five or six minutes with Agent Macon (TI 40, 42). The entire exchange was captured on video and played for the court (TI 42). The officer identified the prescriber's signature on the medication prescriptions as that of Murtaza Hussain (TI 46).

Agent Macon also identified several billing documents. He identified the billing summary for his outpatient visit, with a procedure code of 99204, and totaling, \$220.00. The amount paid by Medicaid was \$71.70 (TI 47). He also identified his own patient progress notes as well as the notes for Krystal Jackson (alias used by second investigator), as well as the records of three other patients that he had interviewed: Alicia Jackson, Loretta Wilson and Sara Jackson.

The patient notes relevant to Agent Macon had been entered in to the computer and electronically signed by Dr. Hussain. The notes reflected Agent Macon's reported medical and prescription history. Those progress notes also indicated that he was seen by Jessie Wang and Dr. Hussain (TI 54). Agent Macon never saw Dr. Hussain. The officer had no idea who entered the notes into the computer (TI 69). He saw Ms. Wang writing notes during his visit but was unaware of what

happened to those notes (TI 70). “Krystal Jackson’s” progress notes similarly indicated that the patient was seen by Jessie Wang and Dr. Hussain (TI 55).

Agent Macon obtained and executed a search warrant for the Livernois practice. He located pre-signed prescription pads bearing the signature of Dr. Hussain and spoke with Dr. Hussain. He learned that Jessie Wang had been placed in the clinic originally through AmeriClerkships on December 17, 2013 (TI 58, 61). The documentation for the AmeriClerkships program specified that members could not practice medicine and should refrain from presenting themselves as licensed medical practitioners. Participants were cautioned to remain under the direct supervision of the attending physician (TI 59). Agent Macon had no information as to Ms. Wang’s knowledge of, or involvement in, the office’s Medicaid billing procedures (TI 78). He did not locate any documentation signed by Ms. Wang relating to Medicaid procedures (TI 79).

Attorney General Special Agent Lorrie Bates was employed in the Health Care Fraud Division of the Attorney General’s Office (TI 89). She also scheduled an appointment at the Livernois Family Clinic in an undercover capacity. She claimed to be Krystal Jackson and appeared at the clinic on December 29, 2014. (TI 90). She identified herself as a Medicaid patient. She was accompanied into an exam room by a medical technician who noted her complaints and advised that the doctor would be in momentarily (TI 92). Ms. Wang was the next person to enter the room.

When Jessie Wang entered the exam room she identified herself as Dr. Hussain’s assistant and did not claim to be a physician (TI 136; TII-A 10). Agent Bates knew that Jessie Wang was not the doctor (TII-A 34, 37). Ms. Wang did not say she was a “physician assistant” but only that she was Dr. Hussain’s assistant (TII-A 39).

Ms. Wang asked the same general questions as the technician and obtained a medical history from Agent Bates. Agent Bates complained of headaches. Ms. Wang asked questions related to the headaches and then left the room for five or six minutes (TI 95, 121, TII 58). Upon her return, Ms. Wang provided advice about sleep and caffeine reduction and indicated that she would provide a prescription for the controlled substance Ambien (TI 95, 99, 101). Agent Bates had no idea who actually called in the prescription (TII-A 17). Ms. Wang said that she was not the doctor but that she was Dr. Hussain's assistant and he was not there that day (TI 99). A video tape of the exchange was played for the court (TI 102). Jessie Wang spent eight or nine minutes with Agent Bates (TI 121).

Agent Bates was part of the team that executed the search warrant at Livernois Family Clinic. Ms. Wang was not present and Agent Bates went to Ms. Wang's home. Ms. Wang agreed to speak with the agents (TI 106). She advised that she had been placed at the clinic through AmeriClerkships and after she finished her internship, she became employed by Dr. Hussain (TI 106-107). She was not a doctor and worked only under Dr. Hussain's guidance. If she saw a patient when the doctor was not in the office, she contacted him by phone to make ultimate decisions (TI 108). He made all decisions relevant to prescriptions (TII-A 26).

Ms. Wang obtained patient medical histories and entered the information in the computer (TI 107). Dr. Hussain would review her input, make desired changes and finalize the computer entries (TI 110). Agent Bates reviewed the patient records for "Krystal Jackson" and noted they had been electronically signed by Dr. Hussain (TI 112). Agent Bates also noted that several examinations were reflected in the electronic report that had not been conducted during her visit (TI 114). Agent Bates did not have Ms. Wang's written notes to compare to those that were electronically signed by Dr.

Hussain (TI 126-127). She had no idea how many employees had accessed the final entries (TI 129). She found no evidence that Jessie Wang was involved in Medicaid billing (TII-A 16).

Agent Bates contacted AmeriClerkships (TI 116). She reviewed the AmeriClerkships documentation signed by Jessie Wang, even though Ms. Wang was not a participant in AmeriClerkships during the relevant time period and was not bound by the requirements of that program (TI 116-118; TII-A 24). The documentation cautioned participants not to appear to be practicing medicine and to advise patients of their non-physician status (TI 120).

The parties thereafter stipulated to the testimony of the MRE 404B witnesses. Sierra Jackson was a Medicaid beneficiary and seen at Livernois Family Medical Services on May 6, 2014 (TII-B 4). Jessie Wang conducted a gynecological examination on that date and Dr. Hussain was not in the office. Ms. Jackson had no idea if Ms. Wang was in contact with Dr. Hussain. Alecia Jackson testified to a similar experience on August 14, 2014, and was a Medicaid/Medicare patient.

Trina Guy was a data specialist with the Attorney General's Office Health Care Fraud Division (TII-B 7). She pulled Medicaid data for Murtaza Hussain at Livernois Family Services (TII-B 7). The Medicaid processing system reflected that a claim was submitted and paid for Chris Anderson for services on August 12, 2014, in the amount of \$71.70 (TII-B 12). Prescription were paid in the amount of \$51.30, \$8.87 and \$4.33 (TII-B 19). Similar payments were made to Dr. Hussain resulting from "Krystal Jackson's" visit on December 29, 2014. There was a payment for the office visit, in the amount of \$110.59 (TII-B 13). The total amount for both Agent Bates and Agent Macon's undercover visits and medications was approximately \$260.00 (TII-B 24).

Ms. Guy was not familiar with the billing practices of Livernois Family Services (TII-B 21). She had never worked in an office that billed Medicaid and had no information as to the layers of medical office employees involved in such billings.

Michele Warstler was employed by the Office of the Inspector General in the Michigan Department of Health and Human Services (TII-B 28). She explained that providers of Medicaid services are responsible for reviewing the Medicaid Provider Manual - a 2000 page document found on-line. That manual requires that the care of Medicaid beneficiaries may only be delegated to unlicensed, certified persons when the physician is physically present and providing direct supervision (TII-B 32). The procedures billed for Agent Bates and Macon required such supervision and if billed without such supervision would be considered a false claim (TII-B 34). Similarly, Medicaid would not pay for prescriptions provided by an unlicensed person even if written under the physician's name. The Medicaid provider is required to properly train staff but there is no requirement that the staff review or acknowledge the Provider Manual (TII-B 36-37).

Dr. Catherine Reid was an employee of the State of Michigan Office of Medical Affairs - part of the Michigan Department of Health and Human Services (TII-B 39). She testified that it was her opinion that Jessie Wang was engaged in the practice of medicine with respect to her contacts with Agent Lorrie Bates and Agent Drew Macon (TII-B 51).

Dr. Reid also reviewed the computer generated progress notes and diagnosis codes in reaching her opinion although she had no information as to who actually authored the notes (TII-B 59-62). Dr. Reid never visited the office and was not aware how the documents could have been altered or amended by Dr. Hussain (TII-B 92). She could not tell by reviewing the notes whether Jessie Wang had actually completed them and she never spoke with Jessie about this issue. She

simply assumed that Ms. Wang had authored the reports (TII-B 95). She made this assumption even though the notes were dated approximately eight days after Agent Bates' appointment (TII-B 96).

Dr. Reid further opined that anyone that had done an internship ought to be familiar with billing procedures (TII-B 69). She added that the patient insurance record was a part of the file in this instance and sheet of paper could be observed in the videotape sitting on the desk while Ms. Wang was making notes and filling out the prescription (TII-B 70). Dr. Reid never saw the actual piece of paper and the agents told her that they could not obtain a copy of the billing document but the prosecutor told her that it was the billing sheet (TII-B 105, 108). She had no independent knowledge of the billing practices of the Livernois Family Practice (TIII 14). She had no idea if Jessie Wang had personally submitted anything to Medicaid.

Dr. Reid reached the same conclusion with respect to Agent Macon ("Christopher Anderson") even though the video was not as clear and Ms. Wang did not appear on the video - only her voice was heard (TII-B 70). During much of the video, Ms. Wang was asking questions about Agent Macon's medication and dosage. Dr. Reid opined that the decision to prescribe medication involved the practice of medicine (TII-B 73). Such a decision cannot be delegated to an unlicensed person without the physician's presence. Dr. Reid reviewed the computer generated patient notes associated with Agent Macon. The notes alleged that the patient had been seen by Ms. Wang and Dr. Hussain. The progress notes indicated that a very detailed physical examination occurred - all of which was necessary for accurate billing - but that intensive examination did not occur (TII-B 85). Dr. Reid opined that as a foreign doctor having completed several clerkships, Jessie Wang would have been aware of the American model of medical practice and the necessity of obtaining a license

to engage in such activity. Further, unless it is a free clinic, Ms. Wang would have been aware that visits would be billed to an insurance company or paid in cash by the patient.

The prosecution rested after the completion of Dr. Reid's testimony. Defense counsel moved for a directed verdict as to Counts I and II - charging Medicaid Fraud (TIII 39). Counsel submitted that all that Jessie Wang had done was to fill out progress notes. She had nothing to do with submitting a Medicaid claim. There was no fraud and such a finding in this matter would essentially allow the conviction of anyone at any doctor's office having any input into putting notes in a file that resulted in a claim for payment. The prosecution responded:

[B]ut for the fact that defendant saw these patients, there would have been no claim. That is causing it. Not just by the fact that she saw the patient but she wrote up her notes and passed them along and they were billed, and we know that happened because what was in the notes is consistent with that we see in the video for the most part, except for where she stated that Doctor Hussain also saw the patient. (TIII 42-43).

The prosecution contended that Jessie Wang was guilty as an aider and abettor because she aided Dr. Hussain in his scheme by seeing patients inputting her notes into the computer. The prosecutor opined that Jessie passed her notes to the doctor so that he could review them and make or change information in order to facilitate a Medicaid billing (TIII 45). The trial court denied the directed verdict:

There has to be sufficient evidence to show Medicaid claims were filed and that defendant did some actions and that she knew that she caused or presented or caused to be made false claims, and that she had actual or constructive knowledge that these claims were false, and at this point in the trial the prosecution has presented enough evidence that these counts should go forward. (TIII 48).

Murtaza Hussain testified that he owned Livernois Family Medical Services from 1993 until 2015 (TIII 49). As a part of his practice, he accepted training responsibilities for one or two foreign doctors a year through the AmeriClerkships - a company that places foreign doctors for internship

rotations (TIII 95). At the time of the instant investigation, Dr. Hussain there were three foreign doctors at the clinic. Ms. Wang was one of those individuals. Prior to the instant matter, Dr. Hussain believed it appropriate for those foreign physicians, though unlicensed, to see patients so long as Dr. Hussain was available by phone (TIII 87). He had also believed that it was legitimate to leave signed prescription pads with his office manager for the convenience of his patients (TIII 96). As a result of the investigation, he pleaded guilty to one count of Medicaid Fraud and one count of Health Care Fraud (TIII 85). His medical license was suspended for three years.

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