STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN, Supreme Court No. 158013

Plaintiff-Appellee,

Court of Appeals No. 336673

v

Ingham County Circuit Court
No. 15-754-FH

XUN WANG,

Defendant-Appellant,

**PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE'S BRIEF IN OPPOSITION TO
DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL**

Bill Schuette
Attorney General

Aaron D. Lindstrom (P72916)
Solicitor General
Counsel of Record

B. Eric Restuccia (P49550)
Chief Legal Counsel

Brendan Maturen (P66427)
Assistant Attorney General
Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellee
Health Care Fraud Division
P.O. Box 30218
Lansing, MI 48909
Tel: (517) 241-6500

Dated: July 24, 2018

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

Defense witness Darius Baty testified that "a good 50 percent" of the clinic's patients were Medicaid patients. (TIII at 132.) He agreed that "the bulk" of the clinic's income was from Medicaid, Medicare, and private insurance. (TIII at 138.) Mr. Baty further agreed that "everybody [who worked in the clinic] that had contact with the patient was involved with completing the paperwork that was used for billing purposes." Moreover, according to Mr. Baty, "everybody who had contact with the patient knew that a bill was going to be generated and sent to somebody so that the clinic could be paid for that patient visit." The witness said that Ms. Wang was among those who were generally aware of the billing process as it related to patient care. (TIII at 141.)

The People introduced abundant evidence of Ms. Wang's knowledge that any patient she treated at the clinic could be a Medicaid patient and could result in a

Medicaid claim. Viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, and resolving all conflicts in favor of the prosecution, the evidence showed that Ms. Wang either had actual knowledge that “Christopher Anderson” and “Krystal Jackson” were Medicaid patients, as copies of their Medicaid cards were in their charts, which Ms. Wang accessed, or, at a minimum, showed that she should have been aware of the nature of her conduct and that her conduct was substantially certain to cause the payment of a Medicaid benefit, as contemplated by the definition of “knowing” in MCL 400.602(f).

Further, the fact that Ms. Wang was working to enter a residency program demonstrates that she knew she needed additional experience and credentials to become a licensed physician, and she either knew or should have known that to lawfully provide services for which insurance, particularly Medicaid, would be billed, she needed to be a lawful medical practitioner. By purposely seeing and treating patients in the absence of a licensed health care provider, contrary to Medicaid rules as reflected in the Provider Manual, she acted in deliberate ignorance or reckless disregard of the truth or falsity of the claims that would be submitted to insurance based upon her actions.

Notably, although Ms. Wang reproduces the definition of “knowing” in MCL 400.602(f) in her brief, she does not address its application here. Instead, contrary to the statute, she essentially argues that the People were required to prove that she had actual knowledge that her actions would result in a false Medicaid claim, rather than constructive knowledge, as provided by MCL 400.602(f).

Likewise, Ms. Wang's argument regarding the causation element of MCL 400.607(1) lacks merit. As set forth above, the statute applies where a person "cause[s a false claim] to be made." The evidence that Ms. Wang's interactions with Agents Macon and Bates resulted in Medicaid claims was not disputed.

In light of her general knowledge and all the surrounding circumstances, Ms. Wang knew or should have known that her actions would result in the submission to the state of false Medicaid claims, as "knowing" and "knowingly" are defined in MCL 400.602(f). At best, she acted in deliberate ignorance or with reckless disregard. Ms. Wang's conviction on the Medicaid Fraud charges in Counts I and II were not clearly erroneous.

III. The People's evidence was sufficient to convict Appellant of Health Profession-Unauthorized Practice in Count III.

A. Standard of Review

See Section I.A, above.

B. Analysis

The trial evidence was also more than sufficient to convict Ms. Wang of one count of Health Profession-Unauthorized Practice.

With limited exceptions not applicable here, as discussed below, "an individual who practices or holds himself or herself out as practicing a health profession regulated by this article without a license . . . is guilty of a felony." MCL 333.16294.

As to the elements of that offense, medicine is a regulated health profession under the Public Health Code, and the parties stipulated that Ms. Wang held no license to practice medicine. The dispute at trial concerned whether Ms. Wang practiced or held herself out as practicing medicine.

Ms. Wang violated MCL 333.16294 when she wrote a prescription for a controlled substance, Ambien, for Agent Bates, and could have been convicted on that basis alone. As set forth above, during her undercover encounter with Ms. Wang as a patient, Agent Bates informed Ms. Wang that she was having trouble sleeping. Ms. Wang then recommended that Agent Bates take over-the-counter melatonin for her insomnia. Ms. Wang also discussed possible causes of the problem, as well as sleep hygiene. Significantly, during that conversation, Ms. Wang produced a prescription pad and wrote Agent Bates a prescription for 10 pills of Ambien, a controlled substance. As documented by the video, Ms. Wang did so without leaving the patient room or communicating with anyone else. Per the testimony of the People's expert, Dr. Reid, as recounted above, all of those acts, among many others committed by Ms. Wang, constituted the practice of medicine.

In her brief, Ms. Wang conspicuously ignores the undisputed fact that she prescribed a controlled substance without consulting anyone. Ms. Wang alternatively argues either that her actions did not constitute the practice of medicine, and/or that to the extent she did practice medicine, her employer, Dr. Hussain, lawfully delegated the practice of medicine to her. Both of those

arguments fail based upon that single act by Ms. Wang of independently prescribing a controlled substance.

Beyond that act, Ms. Wang's actions constituted the practice of medicine, and she held herself out as practicing medicine. The video of Agent Bates' encounter with Ms. Wang clearly depicts her holding herself out as a physician. She entered the room in a long, white coat with a stethoscope around her neck. She solicited a detailed medical history from Agent Bates, as well as a detailed history about her presenting complaints. Ms. Wang performed a neurological exam, gave medical advice, and prescribed medications. She told Agent Bates that she had been a doctor for "about a year." These actions are consistent with the practice of medicine, as defined by statute. MCL 333.17001 ("Practice of medicine means the diagnosis, treatment, prevention, cure, or relieving of a human disease, ailment, defect, complaint, or other physical or mental condition, by attendance, advice, device, diagnostic test, or other means, or offering, undertaking, attempting to do, or holding oneself out as able to do, any of these acts."). In addition, Dr. Reid, the People's expert witness, unequivocally opined that those actions constitute the practice of medicine. Dr. Reid further testified that to legally write prescriptions for controlled substances in Michigan, one also must possess a certification from the Federal Drug Enforcement Agency, which Ms. Wang did not have.

Likewise, Ms. Wang provided medical treatment to Agent Macon by soliciting medical history and prescribing medications. Although Ms. Wang has tried to minimize the significance of the treatment she provided to "Christopher Anderson"

as merely providing prescription “refills,” Dr. Reid made clear that because Agent Macon was posing as a new patient who had not previously received prescriptions from Livernois Family Medical Center, Ms. Wang’s decision to provide him with prescriptions, including for controlled substances, necessarily involved medical decision-making and constituted the independent practice of medicine.

Again, without reiterating in detail all of the facts and evidence set forth above, the evidence that Ms. Wang acted as a physician was substantial, and viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution and resolving all conflicts in favor of the prosecution, was more than sufficient to support a conviction on the charge of Health Profession-Unauthorized Practice.

Ms. Wang protests that her trial counsel failed to cite, and the trial court thus failed to consider, whether her actions fell under MCL 333.16215 and MCL 333.16109(2) as the lawfully delegated and properly supervised practice of medicine by her employer, Dr. Hussain. Ms. Wang’s argument ignores the evidence of her actions and is inconsistent with the evidence and arguments she presented at trial.

MCL 333.16215 permits licensed providers to delegate to “unlicensed providers” who are “otherwise qualified by education, training or experience the performance of **selected acts, tasks, or functions** where the acts, tasks, or functions fall within the scope of practice of the licensee’s profession and will be performed **under the licensee’s supervision.**” *Id.* (emphasis added). Under MCL 333.16109, “supervision” means “the **overseeing of or participation in the**

work of another individual by a health professional licensed under this article . . .

where **at least all of the following conditions exist:**

(a) The **continuous availability of direct communication** in person or by radio, telephone, or telecommunication between the supervised individual and a licensed health professional.

* * *

(c) The provision by the licensed supervising health professional of **predetermined procedures and drug protocol.**

Id. (emphasis added).

Ms. Wang's argument that the above statutes excuse her actions fails for multiple reasons.

First, at trial, Ms. Wang's counsel did not argue that at the relevant times, Ms. Wang was acting pursuant to a lawful delegation, apparently because they did not believe the evidence supported that position. Ms. Wang stated in the videos obtained by the agents, and her attorneys argued at trial, that she was a "medical assistant." (TI at 28-29; TIV at 25, 30.) Ms. Wang's counsel argued that as a "medical assistant," she was not practicing medicine, and to the extent that she might have done so, she was "duped" by her employer into doing so, and she was his "victim," rather than his delegate. (TI at 22.) On cross-examination, Ms. Wang said she followed Dr. Hussain's instructions (TIII at 86), and although she admitted to and was shown in the video evidence performing many actions that constituted the practice of medicine, she (inconsistently) denied independent medical decision-making. (TIII at 207, 210.) In sum, in the view of Ms. Wang and her counsel, the evidence showed that she was not practicing medicine, as opposed to doing so

pursuant to a lawful delegation, and her actions were at the behest of Dr. Hussain who, rather than delegating to her, “told her” to break the law (TIV at 31, 32, 35) and “exploit[ed]” her and other “medical assistants” (TIV at 32), and “subjected” them “to potential criminal exposure” (TIV at 36) because he was “a bad egg” and “a scorpion.” (TIV at 36, 37.) It was not until she filed her brief with the Court of Appeals that Ms. Wang retrospectively claimed that to the extent that she was practicing medicine, she did so pursuant to lawful delegation, although the evidence at trial did not support that contention.

Second, Ms. Wang was not “otherwise qualified by education, training, or experience” to perform acts allegedly delegated by Dr. Hussain, as required for a delegation to be lawful under MCL 333.16215(1). Ms. Wang had obtained her medical education in China approximately 15 years earlier, and then spent 11 to 12 years away from the practice of medicine. She never completed a residency program, and apparently did not qualify for admission to a residency, or had not been able to obtain admission. She testified that she did volunteer student rotations at clinics such as Livernois Family Medical Center beginning in 2012 in order to qualify to be admitted into a residency program. In light of the staleness and remoteness in time of her medical education and prior clinical practice, she simply was not qualified to perform the tasks that she now, retrospectively, claims on appeal that she was delegated, inconsistently with and counter to her arguments at trial.

Finally, and most tellingly, even assuming *arguendo* that the delegation statutes apply, which the People deny, Ms. Wang committed the offense of Health Profession-Unauthorized Practice when she prescribed Ambien to Agent Bates. As set forth above, the definition of “supervision” under MCL 333.16109, as required by the delegation statute, MCL 333.16215, provides that the licensed, delegating practitioner, as part of the requisite supervision, must provide “predetermined procedures and drug protocols.” Also as set forth above, Dr. Hussain testified and reiterated multiple times that it was his policy or protocol that his employees were not to provide prescriptions without consulting with him first, and further that his employees, including Ms. Wang, were aware of that policy or protocol. As mentioned and discussed throughout this brief, the evidence, including but not limited to the video, proves that Ms. Wang prescribed Ambien without a license and without consulting or communicating with Dr. Hussain. Significantly, Ms. Wang never disputed Dr. Hussain’s testimony that he required his employees, including Ms. Wang, to obtain approval from him before providing prescriptions, and that the employees were aware of that policy. Therefore, even if the delegation statutes somehow apply here to some of Ms. Wang’s actions, which the People dispute for the reasons stated above, those statutes and Dr. Hussain’s drug protocol did not authorize her to prescribe controlled substances, and therefore do not insulate her from responsibility for that action.

Rather than address those facts, Ms. Wang in her brief to this Court focuses on the Court of Appeals’ interpretation of the delegation statute, specifically taking

issues with that court's statement that "[t]he 'delegation exception' does not allow for the delegation of acts, tasks and functions that one must be a licensed doctor to perform, regardless of supervision," followed by the court's statement that "Defendant's actions were consistent with the practice of medicine and therefore could not be delegated under the statute." Ms. Wang goes on to argue that physicians have broad statutory authority to delegate under appropriate supervision, and that the acts she performed were permissibly delegated.

Ms. Wang's argument misreads the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion and fails to address the evidence introduced against her. Consistent with the trial evidence, the Court of Appeals found that Ms. Wang engaged in the full-scale practice of medicine, with little to no supervision, and declined to interpret the applicable statutes so broadly as to effectively obviate the physician licensure requirement and create an exception so large that it swallows the unauthorized practice statute, MCL 333.16294. In other words, the Court of Appeals was not willing to interpret the delegation exception so that it authorizes licensed physicians to confer the ability to fully practice medicine on unlicensed persons.

In sum, the People's evidence, viewed in a light most favorable to the prosecution, amply showed that Ms. Wang engaged in the unauthorized practice of a health profession. Ms. Wang's application for leave to appeal should be denied by this Court, because the Court of Appeals appropriately affirmed her conviction.

IV. The trial court complied with MCR 6.403.

A. Standard of Review

Under MCR 6.403, “[t]he court need not make specific findings of fact regarding each element of the crime.” *People v Legg*, 197 Mich App 131, 134 (1992). The trial court’s factual findings should demonstrate how it “resolved credibility issues and conflicts in evidence” and “reveal the law applied by the trial court.” *People v Ramsey*, 89 Mich App 468, 477 (1979). “Factual findings are sufficient as long as it appears that the trial court was aware of the issues in the case and correctly applied the law.” 197 Mich App at 134. “A court’s failure to find the facts does not require remand where it is manifest that the court was aware of the factual issue, that it resolved the issue, and that further explication would not facilitate appellate review.” *Id.* at 134-135.

“The test to determine whether a verdict is against the great weight of the evidence is whether the evidence preponderates so heavily against the verdict that it would be a miscarriage of justice to allow the verdict to stand.” *People v Lacalamita*, 286 Mich App 467, 469 (2009).

B. Analysis

The trial court appropriately made findings of fact and conclusions of law, consistent with MCR 6.403. That rule provides:

When trial by jury has been waived, the court with jurisdiction must proceed with the trial. The court must find the facts specially, state separately its conclusions of law, and direct entry of the appropriate judgment. The court must state its finding and conclusions on the record or in a written opinion made a part of the record.

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